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B. Does Clayton’s admitted failure to comply with the “safe harbor” 

requirements of Rule 26 preclude an award of fees/sanctions under other 

authority, such as a sua sponte award under Rule 26 or the Court’s own 

authority? 

C. Does the fact Laura filed a motion for voluntary dismissal, with prejudice, 

on December 28, 2023, preclude any award of fees/costs/sanctions incurred 

by Clayton after that date? 

D. Does the fact that Clayton failed to meet and confer with Laura, as required 

by Rule 9(c), prior to seeking leave to amend his response to Laura’s 

establishment petition, preclude any award of fees/costs/sanctions to 

Clayton to the extent those fees/costs/sanctions were incurred after 

December 12, 2023? 

E. Does this Court have subject matter jurisdiction to adjudicate civil causes of 

action such as defamation and/or abuse of process, or must those claims be 

litigated separately to preserve each party’s right to a jury trial? 

F. Is Laura entitled, as a matter of due process, to fair notice of the basis upon 

which sanctions are sought before sanctions may be awarded? 

G. Is Laura entitled to an award of fees pursuant to A.R.S. § 25–324 or other 

similar authority based on Clayton’s unreasonable litigation conduct? 

 

7. Position On Each Contested Issue 

Laura’s position on each contested issue has previously been explained in other 

pleadings, so those positions will only be briefly summarized here. 

First, Laura and Clayton engaged in sexual activity on May 20, 2023 which was, 

by Clayton’s own written admission, sufficient to cause pregnancy, see Petitioner’s Trial 

Exhibit A2, regardless of whether sexual intercourse occurred. Based on this admission, 

it is NOT necessary for the Court to determine whether sexual intercourse did, or did not, 

occur. That point is ultimately irrelevant and immaterial to the outcome. 
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Second, Laura had a good faith basis to file this action on August 1, 2023 because 

she believed she was pregnant and she believed Clayton was the father. Among other 

reasons, Laura’s beliefs were based on the following points: 

 Sexual contact between the parties on May 20, 2023; 

 Laura had no other sexual partners near the time of conception; 

 SIX (6) positive pregnancy tests including: 

o A home pregnancy test taken by Laura on May 31, 2023 (which she 

took a photo of and sent to Clayton); 

o A lab test performed at Banner Urgent Care on June 1, 2023; 

o A home pregnancy purchased by Clayton and taken in front of him 

at his residence on June 19, 2023; 

o A home pregnancy test taken by Laura on July 25, 2023; 

o A home pregnancy test taken by Laura on August 1, 2023; 

o A blood-based lab test taken by Laura on October 16, 2023. 

 Clayton has alleged all of the above tests (including the one he purchased) 

are either fake or somehow unreliable, but he has offered zero admissible 

evidence (beyond pure speculation) to support that claim;  

 Laura’s normal monthly period stopped after May 2023 and did not resume 

until November 2023; 

 Laura passed tissue on July 23, 2023 which may have been a partial or 

even a complete miscarriage, although she continued to test positive for 

pregnancy for months after that date; 

 Laura gained weight between May 20, 2023 and November 2023, and then 

lost approximately 40 pounds after November 2023; 

 Laura experienced significant swelling in her abdomen area as documented 

by photos & videos Laura took at the time; 

 Laura “felt” pregnant between May and November 2023, experiencing 

extreme morning sickness, fatigue, frequent urination, and tender breasts. 



 

 8 
  

 

 1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

G
IN

G
R

A
S

 L
A

W
 O

F
F

IC
E

,  P
L

L
C

 
48

02
 E

 R
A

Y
 R

O
A

D
,  #

23
-2

71
 

P
H

O
E

N
IX

,  A
R

IZ
O

N
A

 8
50

44
 

Third, an expert OB/GYN with decades of experience, Dr. Michael Medchill, has 

reviewed Laura’s medical records and based on that review he has concluded she was, in 

fact, pregnant with a level of certainty of “99%+”. Clayton’s experts do not dispute, or 

even respond to, any part of Dr. Medchill’s opinions. 

Fourth, aware that Clayton has claimed Laura’s pregnancy was “fake”, Dr. 

Medchill has reviewed Laura’s medications as documented in her medical records and 

has concluded that none of those medications would produce false positive pregnancy 

tests. Again, Clayton’s experts do not challenge, or even address, this conclusion. 

Fifth, Laura’s conduct during this litigation is entirely consistent with a person 

who believed they were, in fact, pregnant. Among other things, in mid-August 2023 (just 

two weeks after this action was filed), Laura paid $725 to a company called Ravgen for 

DNA testing to be performed on her and Clayton.  

Assuming Laura knew she was not pregnant in mid-August 2023, she would have 

known the Ravgen test was 100% guaranteed to prove she was not pregnant. It is also 

notable that Clayton initially promised to participate in the Ravgen test, but then failed to 

do so until weeks later. Had Clayton appeared for the test earlier (before Laura 

miscarried), it is entirely possible the test results may have been different. Even if the 

Ravgen results were conclusively negative (which they were not), this case could have 

ended much sooner without a single penny of fees incurred by either party. 

In light of these facts, no reasonable person would have agreed (indeed, 

demanded) to perform the test with Ravgen if they believed they were not pregnant at the 

time. The only plausible explanation for Laura’s insistence on the Ravgen test is that she 

was, in fact, pregnant, or at the very least, she believed she was pregnant. 

To the extent Clayton disputes any of the above points, his position is based 

entirely on speculation, conjecture, and improper “propensity” evidence offered by two 

of Laura’s ex-boyfriends, both of whom have restraining orders entered against them, and 

both of whom are strongly motivated to lie. Rumor, speculation, and inadmissible 

innuendo cannot support the extreme relief Clayton seeks in this case. 





 

 10 
  

 

 1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

G
IN

G
R

A
S

 L
A

W
 O

F
F

IC
E

,  P
L

L
C

 
48

02
 E

 R
A

Y
 R

O
A

D
,  #

23
-2

71
 

P
H

O
E

N
IX

,  A
R

IZ
O

N
A

 8
50

44
 

As to these witnesses, Laura objects on the following grounds: 

o Lack of timely disclosure; Clayton has never disclosed a fair substance of 

the anticipated testimony of each witness as required by Rule 49, and the 

majority of the information he has disclosed was untimely because it was 

not disclosed within 30 days as required by Rule 49(b)(2)(B). 

o Relevance; the testimony of each witness is irrelevant to any material fact 

in this case. As such, the testimony is inadmissible per Ariz. R. Evid. 402. 

o Inadmissible character/propensity; the testimony of each witness is not 

admissible to the extent offered to show “Because an angry ex-boyfriend 

claimed Laura lied in the past, she must be lying now.” Such propensity 

evidence is inadmissible per Ariz. R. Evid. 404(b). 

o Improper “specific instances” evidence per Ariz. R. Evid. 608(b). 

 As to Mr. Marraccini, Laura further objects to him testifying for additional 

reasons. First, Clayton never disclosed contact information for Mr. Marraccini as required 

by Rule 49(i). Instead, the only contact information disclosed for Mr. Marraccini was the 

name of an attorney in California (Randy Pollock) who informed Laura’s counsel, in 

writing, that Mr. Marraccini would not testify at trial. See Petitioner’s Trial Exhibit A27. 

 Because it appears Mr. Marraccini’s counsel either lied about his intent to appear 

at trial, or the person identified by Clayton’s disclosures as Mr. Marraccini’s attorney did 

not, in fact, represent him, Clayton has failed to comply with the requirements of Rule 

49(i) as to Mr. Marraccini by failing to provide valid contact information for this witness. 

That one fact precludes Mr. Marraccini from testifying at all.   

 Second, Laura has a current, valid, domestic violence restraining order against 

Mr. Marraccini entered by the San Francisco County Superior Court. This order requires 

him to have no contact with Laura, and he is required to keep 100 yards away from her at 

all times. The order contains no exceptions for in-person testimony in this proceeding, 

and this Court is required, by federal law, to give full faith and credit to the California 

court’s order. See 18 U.S.C. § 2265.  
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 Accordingly, if Mr. Marraccini appears at trial without permission from the 

California court that issued the original order, he will be committing a crime and will be 

subject to arrest pursuant to A.R.S. § 13–3602(R). This issue has been reported to Court 

security by undersigned counsel who has requested that Mr. Marraccini be arrested if he 

violates the DVRO, as the law requires. 

 Laura further reserves the right to object to Clayton’s expert, Dr. Deans, to the 

extent her knowledge, education, training and experience do not meet the requirements of 

Ariz. R. Evid. 702 for the specific testimony she intends to offer. 

 Laura further objects to the testimony of Clayton’s computer expert, Jon 

Berryhill, on the basis that this testimony is irrelevant and offered solely for purposes 

prohibited by Ariz. R. Evid. 404(b). Clayton has failed comply with the disclosure 

requirements of Rule 49(j) because Clayton did not timely disclose “the substance of the 

facts and opinions on which the expert will testify ….” Clayton has also failed to 

disclose the original underlying computer files which form the basis for Mr. 

Berryhill’s opinions as required by Ariz. R. Evid. 1002. To the extent Mr. Berryhill is 

being called solely as a fact witness, this disclosure is also untimely per Rule 

49(b)(2)(B). 

13. Trial Exhibits/Objections 

Laura designates the following trial exhibits: 

 

Exhibit Date Description 

A0 N/A Timeline of Events 

A1 6/1/2023 Banner Pregnancy Test (Positive) 

A2 6/21/2023 Email – Something to Consider w/ 2 Tests 

A3 6/28/2023 Barrow Records re PP Visit 

A4 7/24–8/21 Dr. Makhoul Records 

A5 8/15/2023 Ravgen Correspondence 

A6 9/19/2023 Belly Video #1 
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 2,500 pages of text messages disclosed by Clayton on May 7, 2024; Laura 

objects on the basis of untimely disclosure (per Rule 49); failure to disclose 

original source files (per Rule 49); relevance (Evid. R. 402); hearsay (Evid. 

R. 802); lack of authentication (Evid. R. 901); lack of original (Evid. R. 

1002); failure to make original available (Evid. R. 1006). 

 Evidence of emails & documents exchanged between Laura and Mike 

Marraccini; untimely disclosure (per Rule 49); failure to disclose original 

source files (per Rule 49); relevance (Evid. R. 402); hearsay (Evid. R. 

802); lack of authentication (Evid. R. 901); lack of original (Evid. R. 

1002); failure to make original available (Evid. R. 1006). 

 Evidence of a “dating contract”; inadmissible compromise offers and 

conduct or statement made during negotiations (Evid. R. 408). 

 Evidence of audio recording(s) from Greg Gillespie; untimely disclosure 

(per Rule 49); failure to disclose original source files (per Rule 49); 

relevance (Evid. R. 402); hearsay (Evid. R. 802); lack of authentication 

(Evid. R. 901); lack of original (Evid. R. 1002); failure to make original 

available (Evid. R. 1006). 

 Evidence of emails & documents exchanged between Laura and Greg 

Gillespie; untimely disclosure (per Rule 49); failure to disclose original 

source files (per Rule 49); relevance (Evid. R. 402); hearsay (Evid. R. 

802); lack of authentication (Evid. R. 901); lack of original (Evid. R. 

1002); failure to make original available (Evid. R. 1006). 

 

14. Statement re: Completion of Discovery 

 Laura agrees that except for certain matters discussed above, all pretrial 

discovery and disclosure has been completed by the trial date and that the parties have 

exchanged all exhibits and reports of experts who have been listed as witnesses. 
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15. Statement re: Good Faith Settlement Discussions 

Laura agrees the parties have engaged in good faith settlement discussions. Those 

efforts were not successful. 

16. Fee Request 

 Laura requests (and will seek by separate motion) an award of fees and costs 

pursuant to A.R.S. §§ 25-809(G), § 25-324 and § 12-349. 

17. Trial Record 

Laura has requested the trial be transcribed by court reporter, pursuant to 

Maricopa County Local Rule 2.22. 

DATED June 3, 2024.    GINGRAS LAW OFFICE, PLLC 
 
   
 David S. Gingras 

Attorney for Petitioner 
Laura Owens 
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Original e-filed 
and COPIES e-delivered June 3, 2024 to: 
 
Gregg R. Woodnick, Esq. 
Isabel Ranney, Esq. 
Woodnick Law, PLLC 
1747 E. Morten Avenue, Suite 505 
Phoenix, AZ 85020 
Attorneys for Respondent 
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